THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

RECEIVED

NOV 07 2016

SC Court of Appeals

WCC Case No.: 1316470
Appellate Case No.: 2016-000617

Elias ReynaRespondent,

v.

Fenerly Inc. / Tony's Place of Sumter LLC, Employer, and
Foremost Signature Insurance Co., Carrier..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

William R. Harbison, S.C. Bar 15041
Laura W. Jordan, S.C. Bar 100374
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.
Post Office Box 7368
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Tel: 803.779.1833
Fax: 803.779.1767

Brett H. Bayne
MCANGUS GOUDELOCK & COURIE, LLC
Post Office Box 12519, Capitol Station

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Workers' Compensation Commission err in finding and summarily concluding that Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC is a corporation and that its members, including Claimant Reyna, must "opt out" of workers' compensation coverage rather than "opt in"?

- II. Did the Workers' Compensation Commission err in finding and concluding that Claimant Reyna is an employee of Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC despite his status as a member/partner of that entity and despite his failure to opt in to coverage?

INTRODUCTION

This Court should reverse the erroneous findings and conclusions of the Workers' Compensation Commission ("Commission") which held that Claimant Elias Reyna is an employee covered under his Employer's workers' compensation policy. At both the Single Commissioner and Appellate Panel levels, the analysis of this threshold jurisdictional question was infected by assumptions lacking any validity in law or fact, *to wit*: that the Employer limited liability company ("LLC") is a "corporation" and that Claimant Reyna, a member of the LLC, was covered unless he "opted out." South Carolina law does not support the Commission's treatment of Employer Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC ("Tony's Place LLC") as a corporation, nor the presumption that an LLC member must opt out rather than opt in to coverage. As this Court has previously indicated, South Carolina law treats LLC members as business partners who must affirmatively *opt in* to coverage in accordance with the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130.

The evidence is undisputed: Claimant Reyna's employment relationship was with Tony's Place LLC, where the accident occurred, and he was an LLC member who did not elect to be covered under its workers' compensation policy. When these facts are viewed through the correct paradigm of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130, there is only one conclusion: Claimant Reyna was not covered by a valid policy of workers' compensation insurance at the time of the accident.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal solely concerns the subject matter jurisdiction findings and conclusions of the Commission, which were outlined in the Appellate Panel's January 12,

2016 Decision and Order that modified - and affirmed by a 2-1 vote - the Single Commissioner's June 15, 2015 Decision and Order.

On November 20, 2013, Claimant Reyna filed a Form 50, Request for Hearing, with the Commission alleging he sustained multiple injuries, including a physical brain injury, as the result of a September 27, 2013 work-related injury by accident. (R. pp. 31-33). After the Commission returned the Form 50 due to improper service, Claimant Reyna filed an Amended Form 50, Request for Hearing, on December 11, 2013 mirroring his original allegations and request for relief. (R. pp. 34-35).¹

On January 30, 2014, the Employer/Carrier/Appellants formally notified the Commission and Claimant Reyna of their denial of the compensability of the workers' compensation claim. (R. pp. 36-37). On September 25, 2014, the Employer/Carrier/Appellants filed a Form 51 (Employer's Answer to Request for Hearing) again denying the compensability of the claim and asserting that Claimant Reyna, as a part-owner of Employer Tony's Place LLC, was not covered because he did not opt in to coverage under the Workers' Compensation Act ("Act") pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § § and applicable case law. (R. pp. 38-40). On December 5, 2014, the Employer/Carrier/Appellants filed a Motion to Bifurcate requesting that the Commission conduct a thorough jurisdictional hearing prior to a full evidentiary hearing on compensability, particularly to consider the failure of Claimant Reyna to elect to be covered as a business owner under S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-1-130. (R. pp. 44-53).

On December 18, 2014, the Commission conducted a Single Commissioner Hearing to consider Claimant Reyna's Request for Hearing and Answer. (*See generally*

¹ Although Claimant Reyna withdrew his Request for Hearing on January 27, 2014, he later renewed it on September 3, 2014.

R. pp. 126-143). The Single Commissioner denied the Motion to Bifurcate, among other preliminary rulings, and then conducted an evidentiary hearing on all issues. (*See generally* R. pp. 126-143). On January 19, 2015, the Employer/Carrier/Appellants filed a Post-Hearing Motion Renewal/Motion to Reconsider reiterating their request that the Single Commissioner leave open the record for submission of additional evidence. (R. pp. 54-58). The Single Commissioner granted the request on February 13, 2015 and permitted the submission of additional evidence. (R. pp. 1-2).

On June 15, 2015, the Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order ruling that Claimant Reyna was covered under the Act and had sustained a compensable work-related injury by accident for which he was entitled to benefits under the Act. (R. pp. 3-16). As relevant to this appeal, the Single Commissioner issued the following findings of fact:

- Finding of Fact No. 1: “It is undisputed that the Claimant was a minority shareholder in Tony’s Place of Sumter, LLC.”
- Finding of Fact No. 2: ““I find that in addition to owning a minority share of Tony’s Place of Sumter, LLC, [Claimant] Reyna was also an employee of Tony’s Place of Sumter, LLC pursuant to S.C. Code Annotated Section 42-1-130.”
- Finding of Fact No. 3: “I find that [Claimant] Reyna did not waive entitlement to workers’ compensation benefits as I find he did not sign the Corporate Officer Notice to Reject Form.”

(R. p. 10).

On July 2, 2015, the Employer/Carrier/Appellants timely filed a Form 30 (Request for Commission Review) of the Single Commissioner's Decision and Order, requesting in pertinent part that the Appellate Panel determine:

- Whether the Single Commissioner erred in Finding of Fact No. 2 by determining Claimant Reyna was an employee of Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-1-130?
- Whether the Single Commissioner erred by failing to deny compensation because Claimant Reyna failed to opt-in to insurance coverage as required by S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-1-130?

(R. pp. 41-43).

On September 22, 2015, a three-member Appellate Panel of the Commission heard oral argument. (*See generally* R. pp. 144-155). In a Decision and Order dated January 12, 2016, the Appellate Panel affirmed the Single Commissioner's Decision and Order by a 2-1 vote but modified it by adding the following No. 1 Conclusion of Law: "Under § 42-1-130 Tony's Place of Sumter LLC is a corporation and the Claimant was an employee of the Corporation." (R. p. 27).

On January 22, 2016, the Employer/Carrier/Appellants timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, and *Rhame v. Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 412 S.C. 273, 276, 772 S.E.2d 159, 161 (2015), requesting that the Commission alter or amend its January 12, 2016 Decision and Order. (R. pp. 91-94). The Motion argued, in pertinent part, that the Commission erred in the following findings:

- That Claimant was an employee of Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130 despite clear evidence Claimant was a minority shareholder and owner of Tony's Place of

Sumter, LLC, which is a partnership and under existing case law Claimant cannot be considered both a partner and an employee.

- That Claimant did not "opt out" of workers' compensation coverage when the issue before the Commission should be whether Claimant "opted in" to workers' compensation coverage as required by law for partnerships.
- The Commission failed to make any finding of fact, based on the evidence presented and in the Commission file, as to whether Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC is a partnership or a corporation. Defendants contend the only evidence in the record supports a finding of fact that Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC is a partnership.
- That, as a matter of law, Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC, which is a partnership, is actually a corporation pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130.

(R. pp. 91-94). The Commission, without holding oral argument, denied the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on February 22, 2016. (R. p. 30). The Order was received by counsel for the Employer/Carrier/Appellants on February 22, 2016, and a timely Notice of Appeal was filed on March 23, 2016 challenging the Commission's rulings.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Workers' Compensation Policy at issue in this case (the "Policy") is Policy Number 0005537321, which was issued by Foremost Signature Insurance Company (the "Carrier"). (R. pp. 156-185). The Policy insured two entities – "Fenerly Inc. D/B/A Tony's Pizza" and "Tony's Place of Sumter LLC" – with effective dates of April 12, 2013 through April 12, 2014. (R. pp. 157, 163; R. p. 113, line 25–p. 114, line 11 (explaining that he covered both entities under one policy on the advice of his insurance agent); R. p. 120, lines 3-19 (explaining that, as the agent who sold the Policy, "I insure through our companies Tony's Place, Tony's Pizza, two different entities.")).

As indicated on the Policy's "Schedule of Insureds and Locations," both insureds are located in Sumter, South Carolina, but in two different locations. Fenerly Inc. D/B/A

Tony's Pizza operates as a restaurant located at 301 North Main Street, and Tony's Place LLC operates as a restaurant located at 1870 Hwy 15 South. (R. p. 164). The South Carolina Secretary of State website shows that Fenerly, Inc. is a domestic corporation organized under the laws of the State of South Carolina, while Tony's Place, LLC is classified as domestic limited liability company with the South Carolina Secretary of State and a partnership with the Internal Revenue Service.² (R. pp. 187-189)).

Claimant Reyna initially was employed by Tony's Place LLC as a cook when the restaurant opened in 1999. (R. p. 99; line 17-p. 100, line 18). In April 2012, Claimant Reyna became an LLC member and 30 percent partner/operating manager of Tony's Place LLC. (R. p. 101, lines 9-25; R. p. 121, lines 18-25; R. pp. 190-196). The 70% owner of Tony's Place LLC, and Claimant Reyna's business partner, is Pete Peidis. (R. p. 101, line 11-p.102, line 21). Peidis also owns Fenerly Inc. D/B/A Tony's Pizza. (R. p. 101, line 11-p. 102, line 21). Claimant Reyna had "[n]o interest whatsoever" in "Fenerly Inc. D/B/A Tony's Pizza." (R. p. 102, lines 3-8).

The Policy defines the insured parties as follows:

* * *

B. Who is Insured

You are Insured if you are an employer named in Item 1 of the Information Page. If that employer is a partnership, and if you are one of its partners, you are insured, but only in your capacity as an employer of the partnership's employees.

(R. p. 167). The Policy also contains an Exclusion Endorsement that specifically

² The Internal Revenue Service classifies a domestic LLC with at least two members as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, unless the LLC files Form 8832 and affirmatively elects to be treated as a corporation. There is no evidence in this case that Tony's Place LLC filed a Form 8832 with the IRS to remove it from partnership status.

excludes “Partners, Officers and Others” from bodily injury coverage, including Claimant Reyna. (R. p. 173). Although the Exclusion Endorsement generally identifies the excluded persons as “officers,” the Endorsement applies equally to “Partners” and “Officers” and the listed officers were not officers “in the legal terms” of the entities as organized. (R. p. 113, lines 12-23; R. p. 115, lines 2-7; R. p. 117, line 15-p. 117(a), line 25; R. p. 118, lines 18-19).³ Reyna's payroll was not included in the Policy premium.

On September 27, 2013, Claimant Reyna was robbed and beaten while leaving the premises of Tony's Place LLC, located on Highway 15 in Sumter. He was allegedly struck several times by the assailant, and he suffered injuries to his head, brain, psyche, eyes, ears, hearing and left leg. Thereafter, he sought workers' compensation coverage under the Policy. There is no dispute that Claimant Reyna's injuries would entitle him to temporary total disability benefits, were he a covered employee under the Policy.

Prior to the incident giving rise to his workers' compensation claim, Claimant Reyna had never spoken to anyone employed with the Carrier about Policy, nor had he told his Tony's Place LLC business partner (Pete Peidis) or his insurance agent (Byron Kinney) that he wanted to be covered by the Policy. (R. p. 95, lines 20-21) (stating he did not know agent Byron Kenny [phonetic]); R. p. 96, lines 12-14 (stating he never met

³ Although the record below also included evidence of a “Corporate Officer Notice to Reject” form (the “Corporate Rejection Form”) that formed the basis of the Commission's finding that Claimant Reyna was covered because he did not execute the opt out form (R. pp. 5, 11-12; R. pp. 20, 24-25), whether or not this form was signed is not relevant to this appeal because LLC members must opt in – not opt out. See discussion *supra* pp. 11-12, 16. The insurance agent who sold the policy to Tony's Place LLC clarified that he understood LLC members were automatically excluded, so the Corporate Rejection Form was a superfluous form – an unnecessary “extra layer” that “we've always done [] in our agency . . . [as] protection for an insured, to have the officer sign the form to say they are choosing to be excluded even though they are automatically excluded [as LLC members].” (R. p. 121, line 18-p. 125, line 12).

with the insurance agent); R. p. 97, line 24-p. 98, line 1 (stating he never went to the agent's office to execute a form). *See also* R. p. 138, lines 18-23 (stating he never discussed with Kinney whether or not he should reject coverage); R. p. 141, lines 6-13 (stating he never told his partner Peidis that he wanted coverage under the company's policy)). There is no evidence that Claimant Reyna elected to be covered as a partner or LLC member under the Policy.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judicial review of a Workers' Compensation decision is directed by the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, and typically governed by the substantial evidence rule. *Baxter v. Martin Bros., Inc.*, 368 S.C. 510, 513, 630 S.E.2d 42, 43 (2006); *Shealy v. Aiken County*, 341 S.C. 448, 454, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). However, if the factual issue before the Commission involves a jurisdictional question – as it does in this case, the Court's review is governed by the preponderance of evidence standard. *Nelson v. Yellow Cab Co.*, 343 S.C. 102, 108, 538 S.E.2d 276, 279 (Ct. App. 2000), *aff'd* 349 S.C. 589, 564 S.E.2d 110 (2002); *Kirksey v. Assurance Tire Co.*, 314 S.C. 43, 45, 443 S.E.2d 803, 804 (1994). The issue of whether the claimant was a covered employee is a jurisdictional issue. *Glass v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 325 S.C. 198, 201-02, 482 S.E.2d 49, 51 (1997); *South Carolina Workers' Compensation Comm'n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 546, 547, 459 S.E.2d 302, 303 (1995); *Marlow v. E. L. Jones & Son, Inc.*, 248 S.C. 568, 569, 151 S.E.2d 747, 747 (1966).

When reviewing the purely-jurisdictional issues in this appeal, this Court is not bound by the Commission's findings of fact on which jurisdiction is based. *Canady v. Charleston County Sch. Dist.*, 265 S.C. 21, 25, 216 S.E.2d 755, 757 (1975). This Court

“has both the power and duty to review the entire record, find jurisdictional facts without regard to conclusions of the Commission on the issue, and decide the jurisdictional question in accord with the preponderance of evidence.” *Hernandez-Zuniga v. Tickle*, 374 S.C. 235, 243, 647 S.E.2d 691, 695 (Ct. App. 2007); *see also Kirksey*, 314 S.C. at 45, 443 S.E.2d at 804 (holding this court can find facts in accordance with the preponderance of evidence when determining a jurisdictional question in a Workers' Compensation case); *Sanders v. Litchfield Country Club*, 297 S.C. 339, 342, 377 S.E.2d 111, 113 (Ct. App. 1989) (deciding where a jurisdictional issue is raised, this court must review record and make its own determination of whether the preponderance of evidence supports the Commission's factual findings bearing on that issue).

Because subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law, this Court may reverse an appeal from the Workers' Compensation Commission where – as here – the decision is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5); *Gray v. Club Group, Ltd.*, 339 S.C. 173, 183, 528 S.E.2d 435, 440 (Ct. App. 2000); *Roper Hosp. v. Clemons*, 326 S.C. 534, 536, 484 S.E.2d 598, 599 (Ct. App. 1997)).

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Commission erred in finding and summarily concluding that Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC is a corporation and that its members, including Claimant Reyna, must “opt out” of workers' compensation coverage rather than “opt in.”**

Despite undisputed evidence that Claimant Reyna's employment relationship was as a working member of a limited liability company, the Commission assumed - without analysis or supporting findings of fact – that Tony's Place LLC was a “corporation” and that Claimant Reyna was covered unless he opted out of the Policy. These unsupported and erroneous findings and conclusions require reversal.

Under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act (“the Act”), the threshold inquiry of who is an “employee” is defined as “every person engaged in an employment . . . but excludes a person whose employment is both casual and not in the course of the trade, business, profession, or occupation of his employer.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130. Workers’ compensation pays an employee benefits for damages resulting from personal injury or death by accident – but only if those injuries arise out of and in the course of the employment. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-310; *Bentley v. Spartanburg Cty.*, 398 S.C. 418, 422, 730 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2012).

The Act further specifies that “[a]ny sole proprietor or partner of a business whose employees are eligible for benefits under this title may elect to be included as employees under the workers' compensation coverage of the business if they are actively engaged in the operation of the business and if the insurer is notified of their election to be included.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130. If such an election is made, the sole proprietor or partner will be entitled to “employee” benefits under the Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130. *See Carver v. Bill Pridemore & Co.*, 278 S.C. 235, 237, 294 S.E.2d 419, 420 (1982) (recognizing that the purpose of this section “is to expand coverage of the Act by making its benefits available to working partners and sole proprietors who are actively engaged in another's enterprise, and thereby exposed to its risks, and whose employees are covered under the Act, but who would be otherwise excluded because of their status”).

The opposite procedure applies to officers of a corporation, who are included as “employees” under the Act to the extent they are engaged in “employment” by the corporation. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-402A, a corporate officer may reject coverage under the Act by completing and filing with the employer's insurance carrier a

Form 5, Corporate Rejection Form, or a form with substantially the same information. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-402A.

It is axiomatic that a workers' compensation award will not be made unless an employment relationship existed between the claimant and employer at the time of the alleged injury for which the claim is made. *Spivey v. D. G. Constr. Co.*, 321 S.C. 19, 21, 467 S.E.2d 117, 118 (Ct. App. 1996); *McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co.*, 280 S.C. 466, 469, 313 S.E.2d 38, 39 (Ct. App. 1984). Notably, "[t]he burden of proving the relationship of employer and employee is upon the claimant, and this proof must be made by the greater weight of the evidence." *Lewis v. L.B. Dynasty*, 411 S.C. 637, 641, 770 S.E.2d 393, 395 (2015)(citing *Marlow*, 248 S.C. at 570, 151 S.E.2d at 748). "In addition, an injured worker's employment status, as it affects jurisdiction, is a matter of law for decision by the court and includes the findings of fact which relate to jurisdiction." *Gray*, 339 S.C. at 183-84, 528 S.E.2d at 440-41.

A. The Commission erred by concluding that an LLC functions as a corporation for purposes of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act.

While the Act does not explicitly address the proper classification for limited liability companies in its definition of statutory "employees", this Court has previously indicated that members of limited liability companies are to be treated as partners who must elect to be included as employees for workers' compensation purposes. *Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC*, 406 S.C. 233, 244 n.5, 750 S.E.2d 97, 103 n.5 (Ct. App. 2013)("We exclude Stallings from this analysis because, although he worked for Employer as well as being the sole member of its limited liability company, the record does not indicate he elected to be included as an employee for workers' compensation

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