THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

NOV 07 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000617

Elias Reyna, Respondent,

v.

Fenerly Inc. / Tony's Place of Sumter LLC, Employer, and
Foremost Signature Insurance Co., Carrier, Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Stephen B. Samuels
SAMUELS LAW FIRM, LLC
1320 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-4000

Mark R. Calhoun
CALHOUN LAW FIRM
714 East Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 957-8401

Attorneys for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

---	---

I. The Commission correctly concluded that Reyna was entitled to workers' compensation benefits as an employee of Tony's Place LLC.

This case presents the novel issue of whether a Limited Liability Company (LLC) is treated as a corporation or as a sole proprietorship/partnership under the Workers' Compensation Act. The Appellate Panel held "Under §42-1-130 Tony's Place of Sumter LLC is a corporation and the Claimant is an employee of this corporation." [R. p. 27, lines 9 - 10]. This conclusion is supported by the evidence and correct under the law. Appellants entire argument is based on mischaracterizing the LLC as a partnership and Reyna as a partner.

The Commission made three critical findings of fact to support its legal conclusions. The Commission found "It is undisputed that the Claimant was a minority shareholder in Tony's Place of Sumter LLC." [R. p. 10, lines 4 - 7]. In their briefs to this Court and the Appellate Panel, Appellants describe Reyna as a "business partner" in a partnership rather than a shareholder in an LLC. However, as Appellants state in their own brief to the Appellate Panel, the finding Reyna is a shareholder was not appealed and is the law of the case. [R. p. 19]. See, e.g., Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Ctr., 407 S.C. 112, 754 S.E.2d 486 (2014)("Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from re-litigating issues decided in a lower court order, when the party voluntarily abandons its appeal of that order.")

The Commission went on to find "Mr. Reyna was also an employee of Tony's Place of Sumter, LLC, pursuant to S.C. Code Annotated Section § 42-1-130." [R. p. 10, lines 8 - 19]. The Commission noted Reyna worked as a cook, made nightly bank deposits, was paid a weekly paycheck from which taxes were withheld, and was

subject to the control of Peter Peidis as to the “means of employment, hours, income, and all other conditions of employment.” [R. p. 10, lines 8 - 19]. See Willis v. Aiken County, 26 S.E.2d 313, 203 S.C. 96 (1943)(approving dual capacity doctrine that permits executive officers to recover under workers’ compensation if the officer engaged in “manual labor or the ordinary duties of a workman,” and holding a deputy sheriff was not only an administrator but also routinely performed manual labor when discovering and destroying illegal liquor operations; thus, deputy sheriff’s injury during such a raid was compensable). This finding is also critical, as it confirm Reyna was an employee of the LLC rather than an employer (such as a sole proprietor or partner). Thus, while Reyna had the option to opt out in his dual capacity as a shareholder, he did not have to opt in to be a covered employee.

The Commission also found “Mr. Reyna did not waive entitlement to workers compensation benefits as I find he did not sign the Corporate Officer Notice to Reject Form.” [R. p. 9]. This finding was appealed to the Appellate Panel, but abandoned on appeal to this Court. As such, it to is the law of the case. Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Ctr., 407 S.C. 112, 754 S.E.2d 486 (2014).

Respondents do not dispute the black letter law advanced by Appellants that a sole proprietor or partner is not an employee and therefore not automatically included within the protections of the Workers’ Compensation Act, unless he affirmatively elects to be covered. That is a an accurate statement of the law. The disagreement herein lies with the false premise that Reyna is a partner who must opt in. The Commission correctly found that he is both a shareholder in a corporation and an employee of that corporation. As such, the LLC was the employer; not Reyna.

He was presumptively covered as an employee of the corporate entity, with the right as a corporate officer to opt out of coverage. The argument that he is a partner required to opt in based on a false premise, essentially a straw man whose shadow is not found in the record.

A. The Commission correctly concluded that an LLC functions as a corporation for the purposes of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act [in response to Appellants' arguments A and B at pages 13-17].

The Commission concluded that Reyna was both a minority shareholder of the LLC and its employee. In so doing, it followed the dual capacity doctrine adopted in Willis v. Aiken County, 203 S.C. 96, 104-5, 26 S.E.2d 313, 316 (1943) (“executive officers of a corporation will not be denied compensation merely because they are executive officers if, as a matter of fact, at the time of the injury they are engaged in performing manual labor or the ordinary duties of a workman”). The Commission recognized the practical reality that while Reyna was nominally a shareholder and officer in the LLC, he actually worked as a cook at Tony’s Pizza, LLC. The Commission correctly recognized that an LLC is legally treated as a corporation under the Workers’ Compensation Act.

Appellants rely on a footnote in Hartzell for the proposition that an LLC is treated as a sole proprietorship or partnership for workers’ compensation purposes.

The footnote reads:

We exclude Stallings from this analysis because, although he worked for Employer as well as being the sole member of its limited liability company, the record does not indicate he elected to be included as an employee for workers' compensation purposes. See § 42-1-130 (“Any sole proprietor or partner of a business whose employees are eligible for benefits under this title may elect to be included as employees under the workers' compensation coverage of the business if they are

actively engaged in the operation of the business and if the insurer is notified of their election to be included.”).

Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC, 406 S.C. 233, 244 n.5, 750 S.E.2d 97, 103 n.5

(Ct. App. 2013).

Although the passage in Hartzell echoes the position argued by Appellants, it must be observed that the footnote is quintessentially dicta. Beach First Nat’l Bank v. Estate of Gurnham, 407 S.C. 194, 754 S.E.2d 875 (2014) (“statement [of the law within an opinion] constitutes dicta as it was in reference to an unpreserved appellate issue that did not serve as a basis for the Court’s decision.”). Thus, while perhaps instructive on the sentiment of the Court, it is not binding precedent. The Court made the statement in a footnote on an issue neither briefed nor argued by the Hartzell parties.¹

More importantly, the Commission made its decision in 2015 – two years after Hartzell was decided. The Commission thus was fully aware of the Court’s

¹ A review of the briefs in Hartzell shows the parties did not brief the issue of whether the members of an LLC counted as employees for jurisdictional purposes. As the issue was decided on evidence that Palmetto Collision had at least 4 other employees – none of whom were members of the LLC – a ruling was entirely unnecessary. The Court wrote the footnote *sua sponte* without input from the parties or the Commission.

In Hartzell, the corporate entity was a sole member LLC. Professor Larson has observed “Substantial, majority, and even sole stock ownership as such does not of itself defeat employee status. But when preponderant stock ownership is used so that the stockholder is for practical purposes the alter ego of the corporation, the compensation acts, which are inclined to be realistic rather than technical, will often disregard the corporate entity and treat the stockholder as the employer.” 76-7 A. Larson, *The Law of Workmen’s Compensation* § 76.03 (2013). This may have been the theory adopted by the Court. The instant case is different, in that Reyna was a minority shareholder subject to the complete control of Peidis, thus making him an employee with Peidis as the *de facto* employer (the LLC was the *de jure* employer). Furthermore, there is no basis in our law for disregarding the corporate entity as corporate officers are presumptively employees who must affirmatively opt out per the statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-520 (2007).

opinion, yet still decided this case differently. Cf. Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., 354 S.C. 100, 111, 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (2003)(noting the “Legislature is presumed to be aware of this Court’s interpretation of its statutes”). Their interpretation is consistent with the mandate to interpret the Act liberally to favor inclusion over exclusion.² The Commission is intimately familiar with the statutes and regulations under which it functions. The Court should defer to the Commission’s interpretation of the statute as “The construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” See, e.g., Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc., 406 S.C. 124, 750 S.E.2d 61 (2013).

The inclusion of an LLC as a corporation is consistent and fits logically within the structure of the Workers’ Compensation Act. The Act does not address limited liability companies by that term, as the relevant statutes were written before South Carolina adopted the Uniform Limited Liability Company Act in 1996. S.C. Ann. § 33-44-101 et seq. (1996). Sole proprietorships, partnerships and corporations are the traditional forms of business. The LLC Act was passed to allow smaller

² “The general policy in South Carolina is to construe the Workers’ Compensation Act in favor of coverage, and any reasonable doubts as to construction should be resolved in favor of the claimant. . . . Where employer and employee are subject to the compensation act, . . . injured employee should not be excluded from the benefits of the law upon the ground that the accident did not arise out of and in the course of his employment when there is substantial doubt (arising from the proven facts) of the propriety of such conclusion. . . .These words are construed broadly and should continue to be so construed. Common sense indicates that a compensation law passed to increase workers’ rights (because their common law rights were too narrow) should not thereafter be narrowly construed.” Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 689 S.E.2d 615, 386 S.C. 534 (2010)(internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

businesses to benefit from the corporate entity without being hidebound by the added complexity of traditional corporate formalities.

The Workers' Compensation Act treats the self-employed individuals who comprise sole proprietorships and partnerships as employers. A corporation – because it has an independent existence – is treated as an employer. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-40 (2007). Corporate managers and officers are necessarily employees of the corporation, thus cannot themselves be considered employers. The Act grants a degree of flexibility to business owners – allowing sole proprietors and partners to opt in to coverage and allowing corporate officers to opt out. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130 (2007); § 42-1-520 (2007).

As to partnerships, the individual partners are considered employers (as a sole proprietor is considered an employer) because they are self-employed individuals. It is for this reason South Carolina and virtually every other state holds that “working partners” cannot be employees. Our courts recognize “that section 42-1-130 creates a narrow exception to the general rule by allowing an independent contractor or subcontractor [or sole proprietor or partner] to become an ‘employee’ by electing coverage under his business’s workers’ compensation benefits.” Smith v. Squires Timber Co., 311 S.C. 321, 428 S.E.2d 878 (1993). Allowing a partner to opt in as an “employee” is a legal fiction designed to expand coverage to as many workers as possible.

The federal government follows the same rules defining partners as self-employed individuals rather than as employees:

Bona fide members of a partnership are not employees of the partnership within the meaning of the Federal Insurance

Contributions Act, the Federal Unemployment Tax Act, and the Collection of Income Tax at Source on Wages . . . Such a partner who devotes his time and energies in the conduct of the trade or business of the partnership, or in providing services to the partnership as an independent contractor, is, in either event, a self-employed individual rather than an individual who, under the usual common law rules applicable in determining the employer-employee relationship, has the status of an employee.³

Revenue Ruling 69-184, 1969-1 C.B. 256.

State and federal law confirm that Reyna is an employee of a corporate entity – not a partner in a partnership.

Appellants “contend the only evidence in the record supports a finding of fact that Tony’s Place of Sumter, LLC is a partnership.” [Brief of Appellants, p. 6]. Appellants are mistaken – both on the facts and the law.

Partnership is a term of art – defined in common law and statute. The term cannot be slung around as loosely as Appellants desire. Under the common law, a partnership is a “voluntary contract between two or more competent persons to place their money, effects, labor, and skill, or some or all of them, in lawful commerce or

³ Federal common law rules for determining if a worker is an employee or an independent contractor are similar to South Carolina common law, with the focus on the employer’s right of control. The federal courts examine the following five factors: (1) the extent of the employer’s control and supervision over the worker, including directions on scheduling and performance of work, (2) the kind of occupation and nature of skill required, including whether skills are obtained in the workplace, (3) responsibility for the costs of operation, such as equipment, supplies, fees, licenses, workplace, and maintenance of operations, (4) method and form of payment and benefits, and (5) length of job commitment and/or expectations. Of several factors to be considered, the employer’s right to control is the most important when determining whether an individual is an employee or an independent contractor. See, e.g., Knigh v. United Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 950 F.2d 377, 379 (7th Cir. 1991). South Carolina uses a similar test, albeit with four factors which determine the right of control: 1) direct evidence of the right or exercise of control; 2) furnishing of equipment; 3) right to fire; and 4) method of payment. Wilkinson ex rel. Wilkinson v. Palmetto State Transp. Co., 382 S.C. 295, 676 S.E.2d 700 (2009).

business, with the understanding that there shall be a proportional sharing of the profits and losses between them.” Black’s Law Dictionary 1120 (6th ed. 1990). The statutory definition states: “A ‘partnership’ is an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit and includes, for all purposes of the laws of this State, a registered limited liability partnership.” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-41-210 (1994). For purposes of this case, the more important definition specifies what is *not* a partnership, to wit: “[A]ny association formed under any other statute of this State . . . is not a partnership under this chapter . . .” Id. As Tony’s Place of Sumter, LLC was formed under the Uniform Limited Liability Company Act, it manifestly is *not* a partnership.

The record confirms that this particular LLC is not a partnership, nor is it tantamount to a partnership. The Articles of Organization list both Peidis and Reyna as “organizers” of the limited liability company known as “TONY’S PLACE OF SUMTER LLC.” [R. p. 187]. The BUSINESS PURCHASE AGREEMENT refers to Peidis as Seller and Reyna as Buyer of “a restaurant business for eat-in and take-out food known as Tony’s Place of Sumter, LLC. . .” [R. p. 190, lines 7 - 8]. Neither document uses the term partner or partnership, nor can either be construed to refer to a partnership under some other name.

As to the workers’ compensation policy, the parties – including the Carrier – treated Tony’s Place LLC as a corporation. The Carrier’s agent requested and obtained “Corporate Officer Notice to Reject” forms from Peidis. [R. p. 205]. When the policy was issued, it contained an endorsement purportedly excluding Elias

Reyna as an “Excluded Executive Officer.”⁴ [R. p. 173]. There is nothing in the policy indicating the agent or the carrier viewed the LLC as a partnership requiring the “partners” to affirmatively opt in to coverage. The Court should not lightly reject the intent of the Employer and Carrier in insuring the LLC as a corporation.

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